TA039953

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

| In re WILLIAM MILTON, | Supreme Court |
|-----------------------|---|
| Petitioner, | Case No. S259954 |
| on Habeas Corpus. | Second District Court of Appeal Case No. B297354 |
| | Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. |

On Review from the Decision of the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Seven

From a Judgment of the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Los Angeles, the Honorable Ronald Slick, Judge Presiding

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Brad Kaiserman, State Bar # 266220 5870 Melrose Ave., # 3396 Los Angeles, CA 90038 Phone: (310) 367-7632

INTRODUCTION

This Court has granted review on the following question:
Do the limitations of *People v. Gallardo* (2017) 4 Cal.5th 120
(*Gallardo*) on judicial factfinding about the basis for a prior conviction apply retroactively to final judgments? (Compare *In re Milton* (2019) 42 Cal.App.5th 977 (*Milton*) [finding no retroactive application] with *In re Brown* (2020) 45 Cal.App.5th 699 (*Brown*) [finding retroactive application].)

Based on six separate but related grounds, the answer must be that Gallardo applies retroactively. In Gallardo, this Court, by applying Sixth Amendment principles discussed in Descamps v. United States (2013) 570 U.S. 254 (Descamps), overruled precedent to hold that, when determining whether a prior conviction qualifies as a strike under the "Three Strikes" law, "[t]he trial court's role is limited to determining the facts that were necessarily found in the course of entering the conviction." (Gallardo, supra, 4 Cal.5th at p. 134.) Gallardo also effectively altered what the elements of prior conviction allegations are because the prosecution must now prove that a defendant suffered a prior conviction which *itself* qualifies as a strike, rather than proving a defendant suffered a prior conviction whose *underlying conduct* qualifies as a strike. Thus, by ensuring, on constitutional grounds, the reliability of determinations of prior convictions and by altering the range of conduct and class of people who may be subject to increased punishment based on prior convictions, Gallardo controls the outcome of these cases.

As set forth herein, application of any of the following six tests for retroactivity supports retroactive application of *Gallardo*:

- (1) Under *In re Martinez* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 1216 (*Martinez*), it is retroactive because it is a substantive change in law that alters the range of conduct or class of persons the law punishes;
- (2) Under *In re Johnson* (1970) 3 Cal.3d 404 (*Johnson*), it is retroactive because it directly impacts the integrity of the judicial process;
- (3) Under both state and federal law, original sentences imposed in violation of *Gallardo* must now be deemed unauthorized under the Sixth Amendment and an unauthorized sentence may be corrected at any time;
- (4) Under both state and federal law, because *Gallardo* was dictated by *Taylor v. United States* (1990) 495 U.S. 575 (*Taylor*) and *Apprendi v. New Jersey* (2000) 530 U.S. 466 (*Apprendi*), *Gallardo* is retroactive to those cases that were not final at the time that precedent was decided;
- (5) Under *Teague v. Lane* (1989) 489 U.S. 288 (*Teague*), it is retroactive because it is a substantive change in law; or
- (6) Under *Teague*, it is retroactive as it is a watershed rule of criminal procedure.

Although *Milton* found *Gallardo* to not be retroactive, *Brown* found *Gallardo* to be retroactive both on the basis that the original sentence imposed was unauthorized and that *Gallardo* satisfied the *Johnson* test. (*Brown*, *supra*, 45 Cal.App.5th at pp. 714, 717-720.) Additionally, the Ninth Circuit has found *Descamps* to be retroactive because it is a substantive rule of law. (*Allen v. Ives* (2020) 950 F.3d 1184, 1192 (*Allen*).)

The constitutional stakes at issue here are substantial. Gallardo's ruling protects a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to have a jury determine the necessary facts of a conviction in a proceeding with all the guarantees of federal due process; it does so by requiring that the use of a prior conviction be limited to the use of the necessary facts found by the prior jury at trial or admitted by the defendant at the prior plea proceeding. (Gallardo, supra, 4 Cal.5th at p. 124.) It further protects a defendant's right to notice of the charges – in accordance with Fourteenth Amendment due process principles and the Sixth Amendment – by preventing a sentencing court from increasing punishment in reliance on prior underlying conduct that was not included in the charges themselves in the prior proceeding. As Gallardo vindicates these fundamental rights in the context of using prior convictions to increase sentences, Gallardo must apply retroactively.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 1999, a California jury convicted petitioner of committing a second-degree robbery on September 6, 1998. (*Milton, supra*, 42 Cal.App.5th at pp. 981, 983; Exh. 1, p. 5. ¹) At a bifurcated hearing, petitioner admitted two prior Illinois felony convictions: A simple robbery from February 2, 1987 and an armed robbery from February 9, 1987. (*Id.* at p. 982; Exh. 1, p. 3.)

For the simple robbery, the Illinois charging document alleged petitioner took "a wallet and \$338.00 United States currency ... by threatening the imminent use of force." (Exh. 4, p. 24; see *Milton*, *supra*, 42 Cal.App.5th at p. 982.) A handwritten note underneath the allegation stated, "'Class II. [The victim] left [the market] after cashing this check. Stopped. Money demanded. [Defendant] had a gun. \$338. [Defendant] admitted to Wkgn PD he took the money.'" (*Milton*, *supra*, 42 Cal.App.5th at p. 982, brackets added by *Milton*; Exh. 4, p. 24.)

For the armed robbery, the Illinois charging document alleged petitioner took "\$40 from his victim, 'while ar[med] with a dangerous weapon, a gun ... by threatening the imminent use of force.'" (*Milton*, *supra*, 42 Cal.App.5th at p. 982; Exh. 5, p. 29.)

Petitioner pled guilty to the simple robbery charge and was convicted by a jury of the armed robbery charge. (*Milton*, *supra*, 42 Cal.App.5th at p. 982; Exh. 4, p. 22; Exh. 5, p. 26.)

¹ Exhibit references refer to exhibits attached to Petitioner's Traverse to Return to Order to Show Cause. The page number referred to is the page number set forth at the bottom of each page in the format "In re Milton, B297354, Traverse Exhibits, page ____."

At the Illinois sentencing hearing, regarding the armed robbery, "the Illinois prosecutor recounted the testimony of the victim as follows: 'Mr. Milton got out of the car, pointed a gun at [the victim], and threatened him, forced him into the car where he was robbed of his goods.'" (*Milton, supra,* 42 Cal.App.5th at p. 982, brackets added by *Milton*; see CT² 130.) The Illinois sentencing court told Milton regarding the armed robbery, "'You used a gun You stopped the victim You forced this individual into the automobile.'" (*Milton, supra,* 42 Cal.App.5th at p. 982, ellipses added by *Milton*; see CT 147)

Also at the Illinois sentencing hearing, regarding the simple robbery, "the Illinois prosecutor stated Milton approached the victim 'with a weapon, threaten[ed] him, and ... [the victim] lost his entire paycheck to Mr. Milton.' "(Milton, supra, 42 Cal.App.5th at p. 982, brackets and ellipses added by Milton; see CT 131) The Illinois sentencing court, in discussing the simple robbery, noted "it had received 'stipulated facts' for the case, which 'indicated that the victim ... left the ... [market] after cashing his check. He was stopped. Money was demanded from the victim by ... Milton ... who possessed a handgun. And the sum of three hundred thirty-eight dollars was taken from the victim' "(Milton, supra, 42 Cal.App.5th at pp. 982-983, brackets and ellipses added by Milton; see CT 143.)

_

² Citations to the Clerk's Transcript ("CT") refer to the Clerk's Transcript in *People v. Milton* (May 30, 2000, B131757) [nonpub. opn.]. A motion for judicial notice of the record from the appeal was filed on May 13, 2020.

The sentencing court then told Milton, "In each of the two respective offenses you deliberately held a gun – a loaded gun – upon an individual. … I'm going to tell you that he who participates in an offense of violence against another with a gun is going to be punished. And the sentence I am going to give is for the purpose of punishment." (*Id.* at p. 983; see CT 148.)

At the California hearing in the instant action on the prior conviction allegations, petitioner acknowledged his Illinois armed robbery conviction was a serious felony (Pen. Code, § 667, subd. (a)), but denied his Illinois simple robbery was a serious or violent felony or a strike (§§ 667, subds. (b)-(j), 1170.12). (Milton, supra, 42 Cal.App.5th at p. 983.) "The California prosecutor acknowledged that the Illinois simple robbery conviction was not a serious or violent felony under the three strikes law because robbery under Illinois law, unlike robbery under California law, did not require the specific intent to permanently deprive the person of the property. The California prosecutor argued, however, that certified documents from the Illinois court 'indicate that [Milton] used a gun during the [simple] robbery' and that '[t]his information, therefore, provides this Court with the ability to determine that this particular conviction is a strike.[4]'" (*Ibid*.; Exh. 6, pp. 36-37)

³ Subsequent statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise indicated.

⁴ In California, robbery requires the specific intent to permanently deprive the victim of their property. (§ 211; *People v. Mora and Rangel* (2018) 5 Cal.5th 442, 489.) In Illinois, robbery does not require any specific intent. (*People v. Banks* (Ill. 1979)

Petitioner "argued the Illinois court documents, at best, showed Milton 'possessed' a gun, and nothing in the record showed he 'actually personally used' a gun." (Milton, supra, 42) Cal.App.5th at p. 983; Exh. 7, p. 49.) Armed robbery can be committed in Illinois by merely possessing a gun during the course of the robbery. (Former III. Rev. Stats., ch. 38, § 18-2(a).5) The prosecutor responded by arguing "California law allowed the trial court 'to look behind the record' to determine whether Milton used a gun in the simple robbery." (Milton, supra, 42) Cal.App.5th at p. 983; Exh. 7, p. 48.) The trial court agreed it could look "beyond the court record ... to determine what really happened." (Milton, supra, 42 Cal.App.5th at pp. 983-984; Exh. 7, p. 49.) The trial court did so and determined petitioner used a gun in both Illinois robberies such that the prior convictions gualified as strikes. (*Milton*, supra, 42 Cal.App.5th at p. 984; Exh. 7, p. 49.) Petitioner received a sentence of 25 years to life, plus five years for a prior serious felony conviction (§ 667, subd. (a)(1)). (*Milton*, supra, 42 Cal.App.5th at p. 984.)

388 N.E.2d 1244 [75 Ill.2d 383, 392]; see Exh. 2 at p. 16.) Thus, although California robbery qualifies as a strike under California law (§§ 667.5, subd. (c)(9)), 1192.7, subd. (c)(1)), the Illinois robbery by itself does not satisfy the definition of California robbery and therefore does not qualify as a strike or serious or violent felony. Since the robbery by itself did not qualify as a strike, the prosecutor's argument was based on subdivision (c)(1) of section 1192.7, which qualifies as a strike or serious felony "any felony in which the defendant personally uses a firearm." ⁵ The Illinois Revised Statutes are no longer the current law in Illinois. A copy of the former relevant statutes was provided in Exhibit 2.

On direct review, the Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment in an unpublished decision. (Exh. 1 [People v. Milton (May 30, 2000, B131757)].) It determined the sentencing "court properly found two 'California' serious felony convictions. The court was entitled to look at the entire record of conviction to determine the substance of the foreign convictions. [Citations.] The abstract of judgment, the stipulated facts of the offense in question and the Illinois court's sentencing comments show [Milton] obtained the proceeds of both robberies by pointing and threatening the victims with a handgun." (Exh. 1 at p. 10.) A petition for review was denied on July 19, 2000. (Exh. 10.)

On December 29, 2017, petitioner filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in this Court. On May 1, 2019, this Court issued an order to show cause, returnable before the Court of Appeal, "why petitioner is not entitled to relief pursuant to [Gallardo], and why Gallardo should not apply retroactively on habeas corpus to final judgments of conviction."

Respondent, while arguing that *Gallardo* does not apply retroactively, conceded that, if *Gallardo* were to apply retroactively, petitioner would be entitled to relief because the trial court erroneously considered the record of the proceedings from the prior convictions in determining the prior convictions qualified as strikes. (*Milton*, *supra*, 42 Cal.App.5th at p. 987.) The Court of Appeal denied the petition upon determining *Gallardo* does not apply retroactively. (*Id.* at p. 982.) On March 11, 2020, this Court granted review.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The instant petition does not raise any issues concerning the facts of the offense for which petitioner was convicted in the instant proceeding. Therefore, a statement of facts is omitted. (See *People v. White* (1997) 55 Cal.App.4th 914, 916, fn. 2.) The relevant facts as to the prior convictions have been set forth in the Statement of the Case, *ante*.

ARGUMENT

I. Gallardo Must Be Applied Retroactively to Final Convictions Under Both State and Federal Tests

A. Applicable Law

The Three Strikes law provides for increased sentences where a person convicted of a felony has a prior conviction that qualifies as a serious or violent felony. (§§ 667, subds. (b)-(i), 1170.12.) An out-of-jurisdiction prior conviction may be used as a strike when "the prior conviction in the other jurisdiction is for an offense that includes all of the elements of a particular violent felony as defined in subdivision (c) of Section 667.5 or serious felony as defined in subdivision (c) of Section 1192.7." (§ 667, subd. (d)(2).) The prosecution has the burden of proving elements of a prior conviction beyond a reasonable doubt. (*People v. Delgado* (2008) 43 Cal.4th 1059, 1065.)

At the time of petitioner's sentencing, California courts were permitted to review the entire record of conviction to determine whether an out-of-state conviction qualified as a prior strike. (*People v. Guerrero* (1988) 44 Cal.3d 343, 345.) In *People v. McGee* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 682 (*McGee*), this Court held a sentencing court, rather than a jury, could make that determination. (*McGee*, supra, 38 Cal.4th at p. 686.)

In *Descamps*, the United States Supreme Court considered Sixth Amendment principles and held, under the "categorical approach," a sentencing court may not consider conduct underlying the prior conviction, but may only consider the

elements of the prior conviction to determine whether the prior conviction may be used to increase a defendant's sentence. (*Descamps*, *supra*, 570 U.S. at pp. 261, 269-270.) The prior conviction may only be used to increase a sentence if the offense elements of the prior conviction are the equivalent of or more restricted than the elements of the qualifying offense. (*Id.* at p. 276.)

A narrow exception, termed the "modified categorical approach," applies when the prior conviction has "divisible" or "alternative" elements, in which case the court may consider a limited set of documents to determine which version of the prior offense the defendant was convicted of committing. (*Descamps*, supra, 570 U.S. at p. 257.)

In *Descamps*, the court considered whether a guilty plea to burglary in California (§ 459) qualified as a prior violent felony under the Armed Career Criminal Act ("ACCA") (18 U.S.C. § 924, subd. (e)). Because the California statute for burglary, which does *not* require an unlawful entry, is broader than the generic crime under the ACCA, a conviction under the California statute "cannot count as an ACCA predicate, *even if* the defendant actually committed the offense in its generic form." (*Descamps*, *supra*, 570 U.S. at p. 260, emphasis added.) "The key ... is elements, not facts." (*Ibid.*, emphasis added.) Thus, in the case before it, "review of the plea colloquy or other approved extrastatutory documents" was not authorized because the California statute for burglary was broader than the generic offense of burglary under the ACCA. (*Id.* at p. 265.)

Subsequently, in *Mathis v. United States* (2016) __ U.S. __ [136 S.Ct. 2243, 2248] (*Mathis*), the United States Supreme Court reaffirmed *Descamps*'s holding "that the prior crime qualifies as an ACCA predicate if, but only if, its elements are the same as, or narrower than, those of the generic offense." (*Id.* at p. 2247.) A sentencing court "can do no more, consistent with the Sixth Amendment, then determine what crime with what elements, the defendant was convicted of." (*Id.* at p. 2252, citing *Apprendi*, *supra*, 530 U.S. at p. 490.)

In its watershed 2017 opinion in Gallardo, this Court aligned itself with the United States Supreme Court's application of Sixth Amendment principles to prior convictions. Gallardo explained, "The Sixth Amendment contemplates that a jury – not a sentencing court – will find such facts, unanimously and beyond a reasonable doubt. And the only facts the court can be sure the jury so found are those constituting elements of the offense – as distinct from amplifying but legally extraneous circumstances." (Gallardo, supra, 4 Cal.5th at p. 133, quoting Descamps, supra, 570 U.S. at pp. 269-270.) Thus, "the court may not rely on its own independent review of record evidence to determine what conduct 'realistically' led to the defendant's conviction." (Gallardo, supra, 4 Cal.5th at p. 124, emphasis added.) Gallardo also held even if a jury, rather than a judge, were deciding the "truth" of prior conviction allegations, such a jury, like a judge, would be limited to the prior conviction itself in determining if it qualifies as a strike and would be prohibited from determining underlying conduct. (*Id.* at pp. 138-139.)

Thus, *Gallardo* overruled the prior precedent set forth in *Guerrero* and *McGee*. (*Gallardo*, *supra*, 4 Cal.5th at p. 129.)
Although *Gallardo* did not explicitly address *People v. Myers* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 1193 (*Myers*), *Gallardo* also effectively overruled *Myers*, which had held, primarily on the basis of statutory interpretation, that the same set of *Guerrero* rules applied to out-of-state priors where the crime of conviction lacked elements required for a serious felony under California law.

In the instant case, the Court of Appeal determined that *Gallardo* does not satisfy any of the tests for retroactive application to final judgments. After *Milton* was decided, the Court of Appeal in *Brown*, *supra*, 45 Cal. App. 5th 699 found otherwise and held that *Gallardo* does apply retroactively on two separate grounds: (1) The sentence imposed was unauthorized and unauthorized sentences may be corrected at any time; and (2) the *Gallardo* rule passes the test for retroactivity under *Johnson*.

Whether *Gallardo* applies retroactively is reviewed de novo. (*In re Serrano* (1995) 10 Cal.4th 447, 457.)

-

⁶ A judgment is considered final for retroactivity purposes when all direct appeals have been exhausted and a petition for writ of certiorari in the United States Supreme Court has been denied or the time for filing such a petition has expired. (*People v. Vieira* (2005) 35 Cal.4th 265, 305-306.) An appellant has 90 days after the state court of last resort denies discretionary review to file a petition for writ of certiorari with the United States Supreme Court. (United States Supreme Court Rules, rule 13.)

B. Gallardo Is Retroactive to Final Judgments Under the State Tests for Retroactivity

1. Gallardo Established a New Rule

The first question for purposes of state retroactivity is whether "the decision establish[es] a new rule of law." (*People v. Guerra* (1984) 37 Cal.3d 385, 399.) *Gallardo* satisfies this threshold inquiry as it disapproved prior California Supreme Court law. (*Gallardo*, *supra*, 4 Cal.5th at p. 125; see *Brown*, *supra*, 45 Cal.App.5th at p. 716; *Milton*, *supra*, 42 Cal.App.5th at p. 997.)

2. Gallardo Is Retroactive Because It Is a Substantive Change in Law That Altered the Range of Conduct or the Class of Persons That the Law Punishes

California law regarding the retroactivity of state court decisions grants "retroactive effect when a rule is substantive rather than procedural (i.e., it alters the range of conduct or the class of persons that the law punishes, or it modifies the elements of the offense) or when a judicial decision undertakes to vindicate the meaning of the statute." (*Martinez*, *supra*, 3 Cal.5th at p. 1222, citing *In re Lopez* (2016) 246 Cal.App.4th 350, 357-359.) Applying this principle, the rule established by *Gallardo* is substantive.

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