# **In the Supreme Court of the State of California**

In re

**WILLIAM MILTON,**  
on Habeas Corpus.

Case No. S259954

Second Appellate District, Division Seven, Case No. B297354  
Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. TA039953  
The Honorable Ronald Slick, Judge

## **ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

XAVIER BECERRA  
Attorney General of California  
LANCE E. WINTERS  
Chief Assistant Attorney General  
SUSAN SULLIVAN PITHEY  
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
LOUIS W. KARLIN  
Deputy Attorney General  
NICHOLAS J. WEBSTER  
Deputy Attorney General  
State Bar No. 307415  
300 South Spring Street, Suite 1702  
Los Angeles, CA 90013  
Telephone: (213) 269-6103

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

evidence available to sentencing judges might actually be to increase the risk of erroneous factfinding at sentencing, because a sentencing judge might be prevented from determining that a prior conviction was a strike when, in fact, it was”].)

**b. *Gallardo* does not alter bedrock criminal procedure**

The rule announced in *Gallardo* also did not alter bedrock procedural elements essential to the fairness of criminal proceedings. To qualify as a bedrock procedural rule, “a new rule must itself constitute a previously unrecognized bedrock procedural element that is essential to the fairness of a proceeding. In applying this requirement, we . . . have looked to the example of [*Gideon v. Wainwright* (1963) 372 U.S. 335] and ‘we have not hesitated to hold that less sweeping and fundamental rules’ do not qualify.” (*Whorton, supra*, 549 U.S. at p. 421.)

Relevant here, multiple courts have found that *Apprendi* is not a bedrock principle of criminal procedure. (*United States v. Sanchez-Cervantes, supra*, 282 F.3d at p. 669; *United States v. Sanders* (4th Cir. 2001) 247 F.3d 139, 150; *United States v. Moss* (8th Cir. 2001) 252 F.3d 993, 999-1000; *McCoy v. United States* (11th Cir. 2001) 266 F.3d 1245, 1258.) *Sanchez-Cervantes* noted that *Apprendi* did not apply to most defendants and reasoned that the convictions themselves were found beyond a reasonable doubt. (*Sanchez-Cervantes, supra*, at p. 669.) Those statements are equally true about *Gallardo*. Another court recognized *Apprendi* is not a bedrock principle because “one can easily envision a system of ‘ordered liberty’ in which certain elements of

a crime can or must be proved to a judge, not to the jury.” (*Moss, supra*, at p. 999.) So too with *Gallardo*—in fact, this Court did envision such a system when it approved *McGee*.

If *Apprendi* was not a bedrock principle, then a fortiori, the less expansive rule in *Gallardo* must also not be a bedrock principle. (*Milton, supra*, 42 Cal.App.5th at p. 996; see also *Haden, supra*, 49 Cal.App.5th at p. 1098; *Scott, supra*, 49 Cal.App.5th at p. 1017.)

Even when *Gallardo* is imprecisely viewed as an evidentiary rule, it too is not a bedrock principle. Rules that severely alter what evidence is admissible to the fact-finder have not been found to be bedrock principles of criminal procedure. (*Whorton, supra*, 549 U.S. at p. 420 [the *Crawford* rule did not alter the understanding of bedrock procedural elements as it did not have the “primacy” and “centrality” of the *Gideon* rule].)

**D. *Gallardo* is not retroactive under *Johnson*, as it is a new procedural rule that does not significantly impact fact-finding reliability**

**1. *Gallardo* created a new procedural rule**

The *Johnson* standard requires a similar threshold inquiry—does the decision establish a new rule of law? (*Guerra, supra*, 37 Cal.3d at p. 399.) If it does not create a new rule, no question of retroactivity arises. (*Ibid.*) A decision establishes a “new rule” when it “(1) explicitly overrules a precedent of this court [citation], or (2) disapproves a practice impliedly sanctioned by prior decisions of this court [citation], or (3) disapproves a longstanding and widespread practice expressly approved by a near-unanimous body of lower-court authorities.” (*Id.* at p. 401.)

As Milton concedes, *Gallardo* is a new rule under *Johnson* because it specifically overruled *McGee* insofar as it suggested that a trial court was permitted to enhance a sentence by finding facts underlying a prior conviction. (OBM 23; *Gallardo, supra*, 4 Cal.5th at pp. 125, 136; see *Haden, supra*, 49 Cal.App.5th at p. 1099; *Scott, supra*, 49 Cal.App.5th at p. 1016; *Brown, supra*, 45 Cal.App.5th at p. 716; *Milton, supra*, 42 Cal.App.5th at p. 997.)

California courts must next ask whether the new rule is procedural or substantive. Substantive new rules will generally be given retroactive effect. (See *Martinez, supra*, 3 Cal.5th at pp. 1222-1223; *Scott, supra*, 49 Cal.App.5th at p. 1016; *Brown, supra*, 45 Cal.App.5th at p. 716.) Accordingly, a rule only reaches the three-factor test under *Johnson* when the rule is both new and procedural. (*In re Lopez* (2016) 246 Cal.App.4th 350, 359 fn. 2; see *Martinez, supra*, 3 Cal.5th at pp. 1222-1223 [citing *Lopez* approvingly]; *Trujeque, supra*, 61 Cal.4th at pp. 249-251.)

For the same reasons provided in the above *Teague* analysis (Arg. I(C)(2)), *Gallardo* is a procedural rule because it reallocated the fact-finding responsibility from the judge to the jury; thus, it only changed the procedure for determining guilt. (See *Schriro, supra*, 542 U.S. at p. 353 [rule that only a jury may make an aggravating factual finding was procedural].)

**2. *Gallardo's* purpose was to extend defendants' constitutional jury trial rights, not to improve fact-finding**

Under *Johnson*, the retroactive effect of a new rule of procedural law is determined by: “(a) the purpose to be served by the new standards, (b) the extent of the reliance by law

enforcement authorities on the old standards, and (c) the effect on the administration of justice of a retroactive application of the new standards.” (*Johnson, supra*, 3 Cal.3d at p. 410.) “[I]f the rule relates to characteristics of the judicial system which are essential to minimizing convictions of the innocent, it will apply retroactively regardless of the reliance of prosecutors on former law, and regardless of the burden which retroactivity will place upon the judicial system.” (*Id.* at p. 413; see also *Guerra, supra*, 37 Cal.3d at p. 402.) The final two factors are typically considered only when it is a “close” question whether retroactivity applies after considering the first factor. (*Johnson, supra*, at p. 410.) As discussed above, although this formulation might suggest that the values of preserving finality and promoting consistent judgments are secondary, due respect for those values is inherent in *Johnson* and this Court’s habeas jurisprudence. (See Arg. I(B).)

The first, most critical factor in the *Johnson* test militates toward non-retroactivity. For the reasons discussed under the *Teague* analysis (Arg. I(C)(3)(a)), *Gallardo* was not intended to increase the reliability of fact-finding. To briefly summarize: *Gallardo* repeatedly announced its intention was to protect the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial by reassigning the fact-finding responsibility from the judge to the jury. (*Gallardo, supra*, 4 Cal.5th at pp. 124, 134, 135-138.) Rules that reallocate fact-finding from the judge to jury have not been found to be essential to an accurate determination. (See *DeStefano, supra*, 392 U.S. at pp. 633-635; *Schriro, supra*, 542 U.S. at p. 358; see

also *Haden, supra*, 49 Cal.App.5th at p. 1099; *Scott, supra*, 49 Cal.App.5th at p. 1017; *Milton, supra*, 42 Cal.App.5th at p. 998.) Moreover, the prior method of determining qualifying convictions was approved by this Court in *McGee* because it was a fair and reliable procedure that required a finding beyond a reasonable doubt. *Gallardo* did not overrule the *McGee* procedure because it was unreliable, but because the Sixth Amendment demands a jury make those determinations.

Even *Brown, supra*, 45 Cal.App.5th 699, agreed with *Milton's* conclusion that *Gallardo* established a new procedural rule. (*Id.* at p. 721.) But the court found that, under *Johnson*, the primary purpose of the *Gallardo* rule was to promote reliable determinations by precluding sentencing courts “from making disputed factual findings regarding the defendant’s conduct underlying a prior conviction, based on facts outside the record of conviction or facts that were not admitted by the defendant during his plea or found true by the jury.” (*Id.* at p. 718.) It “goes to the integrity of the factfinding process when the court determines whether a prior conviction qualifies as a strike,” and shows that *Gallardo's* “primary purpose is to promote reliable determinations.” (*Ibid.*)

As shown above, this reasoning is mistaken on several grounds. First, under pre-*Gallardo* precedent, sentencing courts were also limited to the record of conviction. (*McGee, supra*, 38 Cal.4th at p. 691.) Second, and more fundamentally, *Brown* does not acknowledge that sentencing judges made their findings pre-*Gallardo* under a beyond a reasonable doubt standard. Indeed,

*Gallardo* only found error with the sentencing court’s reliance on the record of conviction in that case because that record did not show what the jury found or the defendant admitted, as required by the Sixth Amendment. As this case exemplifies, the pre-*Gallardo* fact-finding method could hardly be characterized as inherently unreliable: Here, the court found Milton used a firearm based on the prior sentencing court’s uncontested finding in aggravation as to that same fact. On the other hand, application of *Gallardo* results in accepting a prior jury’s verdict at face value, without any inquiry as to reliability.

*Brown* also misapplied the *Johnson* three-factor test. *Brown* stated as follows when distinguishing *Milton*: “The court in *Milton* reasoned (1) *Gallardo* did not vindicate a right essential to the reliability of the factfinding process and (2) applying *Gallardo* retroactively would be disruptive. *We are not persuaded that these two grounds justify depriving defendants of retroactive application of Gallardo.*” (*Brown, supra*, 45 Cal.App.5th at pp. 721-722, italics added.) But those grounds encompassed all three factors under *Johnson*; since they both militate toward non-retroactivity, that ends the debate. *Brown* further misapplied the *Johnson* factors when it agreed that *Milton*’s two grounds are likely correct, but reasoned that “these factors do not outweigh a defendant’s constitutional right to a jury determination of facts upon which a strike is based.” (*Ibid.*) But the involvement of an important constitutional right in a new procedural rule *does not* make the rule retroactive—take *Crawford* or *DeStefano* for

example—and does not override *Johnson*'s three factors when they militate toward non-retroactivity.

The Justice Toucher concurrence in *In re Haden* provides an interesting, though ultimately unpersuasive, argument that *Gallardo* vindicated a right that is essential to fact-finding. (*Haden, supra*, 49 Cal.App.5th at p. 1104 (con. opn. of Toucher, J.)) Justice Toucher referred to Justice Chin's concurring and dissenting position in *Gallardo* that any Sixth Amendment error could be cured by remanding the case to allow a jury to determine if the conduct qualified as a serious or violent felony based on the record of conviction. (*Ibid.*; see *Gallardo, supra*, 4 Cal.5th at pp. 138-139.) The majority rejected that remedy, finding it did not include "the procedural safeguards, such as the Sixth Amendment right to cross-examine one's accusers, that normally apply in criminal proceedings." (*Gallardo, supra*, at pp. 138-139.) From this reasoning, Justice Toucher inferred that *Gallardo*'s holding must have been intended to make proceedings more accurate. (*Haden, supra*, at p. 1104 (con. opn. of Toucher, J.))

Justice Toucher's inference is mistaken. Far from evincing a concern with enhancing reliability, *Gallardo* justified its rejection of Justice Chin's remedy because it raised "constitutional concerns under *Apprendi*," in line with *Gallardo*'s explicit goal to vindicate the jury trial right. (*Gallardo, supra*, 4 Cal.5th at p. 138.) That is, the majority's disagreement with Justice Chin concerned whether his proposed remedy would result in other Sixth Amendment violations, not with whether the proposed remedy would insure or promote reliability. In any event, it does

not follow that, because a particular remedy might raise reliability concerns, *Gallardo*'s core holding must also concern reliability.

Milton compares this case to *In re Lucero* (2011) 200 Cal.App.4th 38 (OBM 29), where a new rule overruled a theory of murder on which the jury was instructed (*id.* at p. 41). But that rule was clearly substantive as it altered the very definition of murder. (See *Milton, supra*, 42 Cal.App.5th at p. 999, fn. 11.) Milton's reliance on *Mutch* (OBM 29) is also unhelpful. *Mutch* considered the retroactivity of a rule that reinterpreted a statutory element of kidnapping. (*People v. Mutch* (1971) 4 Cal.3d 389, 395-396.) *Mutch* therefore announced an *old* rule (see *Woosley, supra*, 3 Cal.4th at p. 794), or at least a substantive rule, as it altered kidnapping's definition (*Mutch, supra*, at pp. 395-396).

### **3. Applying *Gallardo* retroactively would cause significant disruption**

The other two *Johnson* factors—the extent of the reliance by law enforcement authorities on the old standards, and the effect on the administration of justice—also weigh in favor of finding that *Gallardo* is not retroactive. (*Johnson, supra*, 3 Cal.3d at p. 410.) Before *Gallardo*, prosecutors and courts typically and reasonably relied on *Guerrero* and *McGee* to justify having the trial court determine whether a prior conviction qualified for increased punishment under a sentencing statute. (See *Gallardo, supra*, 4 Cal.5th at pp. 129-130.) If this Court finds *Gallardo* to be retroactive, any criminal whose sentence was increased based on out-of-state convictions that did not conform to the elements of

a California strike (like Milton), or any criminal who was convicted of a California crime whose statutory definition swept more broadly than the definition of “serious felony” (like *Gallardo*), would be entitled to a new hearing on the prior conviction allegations. (See *Gallardo, supra*, 4 Cal.5th at p. 137; *Brown, supra*, 45 Cal.App.5th at p. 731 (dis. opn. of Menetrez, J.) [“In the 11 years from *McGee* to *Gallardo*, California lawyers and lower courts universally and reasonably relied on *McGee*”].)

*Gallardo*’s retroactivity would therefore have a costly and disruptive effect on the administration of justice. Courts and parties would have to reopen numerous cases, conduct new hearings, and utilize significant resources on finding old documentation concerning already completed cases. (See *Gallardo, supra*, 4 Cal.5th at pp. 137-138 [courts may consider plea stipulations and documents to determine what facts the jury necessarily found].) As this Court explained, “A rule providing for the postappeal review of legal issues that requires an appellate court to reopen factual issues already sifted, evaluated, and decided at trial both poses a significant threat to the legal repose of such judgments, and threatens to consume scarce judicial resources needlessly. In such cases, the state’s interest in the finality of its judgments is strong.” (*Harris, supra*, 5 Cal.4th at pp. 840-841.) Indeed, in this context, it is highly likely that many sentences would be invalidated due to the inability to locate the necessary conviction-related records (many of which will have been destroyed in the normal course of business), and without any reason to believe the prisoner was actually innocent

of the criminal conduct that qualified him for an enhanced sentence.

For these reasons, *Johnson* does not compel retroactive application of *Gallardo* to Milton’s final judgment.

**E. *Gallardo* is not retroactive under the unauthorized sentence exception to procedural default**

Finally, Milton, supported by the majority in *In re Brown*, asserts that *Gallardo* applies retroactively because an unauthorized sentence may be corrected at any time. (OBM 38-40; *Brown, supra*, 45 Cal.App.5th at p. 715.) That argument misunderstands the purpose of the “unauthorized sentence” line of precedent, which applies to determine whether a defendant can overcome a procedural bar; it is not a stand-alone, alternative retroactivity doctrine to *Teague* or *Johnson*.

As relevant to collateral review, *People v. Scott* (1994) 9 Cal.4th 331, at page 354, explained: “The ‘unauthorized sentence’ principle . . . has been invoked to determine whether claims previously rejected or never raised are procedurally barred on habeas corpus. (*In re Harris* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 813, 839. . . .)” As this Court has recognized, “where a habeas corpus petitioner raises a legitimate claim that the trial court acted in excess of its jurisdiction, the *Waltreus* rule<sup>[15]</sup> will not operate as a bar to a full airing of the grievance in a collateral proceeding.” (*Harris, supra*, 5 Cal.4th p. 840.) Although a change in the law affecting the petitioner is one of the potential bases for excusing a procedural

---

<sup>15</sup> *In re Waltreus* (1965) 62 Cal.2d 218, 225.

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